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OLD CEMETERIES OF
SOUTHEASTERN TULARE COUNTY
CALIFORNIA

Records, with dates, of persons buried in the following cemeteries: Crabtree;
Cramer; Hubbs or Springville; and White River (and Tailholt Boot Hill}; and these
family burying grounds: Galley Mt. or Shelby Pepper; Duncan-McDonald; Flagg-
Webb; Wilcox; and mention of some isolated graves: Crook, llanstine, and Walker:
Hayes or Haynes family; Northrup family; Joe Street. Cemeteries Tell Local History,
by I. H. Stiner.

Data was collected for the Native Daughters of the Golden West, Tule Vista
Parlor, by the following: Pear! Burford, Ruth Gilliam, Eisie McHenry, Loriena McKiear-
nan, Marianne Morrison, Edna Meddick, Ruth Olson, Ina Stiner, Sardis Templeton,
Donald and Josephine Witt; assisted by Thos. Ferguson, secretary-manager of Por-
terville Cemetery District, and his helper, Wilbur Huntington. Credit is given in the
records to those who graciously gave information and family dates.

Printed for the Native Daughters of the Golden West,
Tule Vista Parlor No. 305, Porterville, California
' By The Farm Tribune Press, 1954



THE CRABTREE CEMETERY

The Crabtree Cemetery is situated on the East 64 acres of the NWI/, of Sec-
tion 22, Township 21 S, Range 29 E. The lots are 8x20 feet. On September 5, 1903
a plat of the cemetery was put on record in the County Recorder's Office. It was
accompanied by this statement: "W. N. Crabtree takes oath that he is the owner
of the land described on this plat and that he caused the same to be subdivided and
platted for sale in accordance with this plat; and all streets and alleys are hereby
dedicated to public use.” This was sworn to before a notary. The rofs had been
surveyed by Volney Baker and staked with redwood stakes still in existence; and lots
had been sold to the Halliburtons, McCutcheons, Duncans, Lee Greens, A. P. Osborns,
Oliver Osborns, Grahams and others, according to A. P. O. Crabtree, son of W.
Newton Crabtree. In 1908, W. Newton Crabtree sold to two men from Los Angeles
his ranch surrounding this cemetery, which is on a knoll, with cak trees and boulders,
in irrigated pasture land. In the deed of sale the reference to the cemetery is this
exception: "except from said above described tract of land all lots heretofore con-
veyed in the Crabtree Cemetery.” As right-of-way was not exempted, it was fenced
across and road into the cemetery was obliterated, and stock was pastured in the en-
closure. After 33 years, two owners of a lot, having been denied entrance to the cem-
etery, appesled to the Porterville District Cemetery Board which met a similar rebuff;
and the manager of the district had difficulty accomplishing a later burial in this cem-
etery. The present owners of the ranch the third) accepted a responsibility attached
to the cemetery and allow entrance, although it is through their dooryard. This
cemetery is sometimes called Globe Cemetery, because it lies about a halt mile south
of the old Globe church. it contains about 70 graves, and was probably begun at
the death of Newton Crabtree's mother in 1875 or earlier. (In the list of burials,
* denotes a grave-stone.)

. Flossie, daughter of Mrs. Emma Becker Rupendahl.

. Horace Chaney, cousin of A. P. Osborn, who died of tuberculosis.

. Samuel Sheppard Coburn, born in 1824, died in October, 1895,

. John Benjamin Crabtree, died about 1878, aged 83 years.

Rebecca {Wilkerson) Crabtree, wife of John, died about 1873 or 75, aged 74

years.

. Wm. Newton Crabtree, born October 4, 1839, died April 7, 1910.*
. Lergperance (Osborn) Crabtree, wife of Wm. Newton Crabiree, born 1854,

ied 1931. .

8. Edward L. Crabtree, Calif. Pvt. 119 MD. Bn. 32 Dv. Died March |, 1941.*
9. Henry Crabtree, born 1881, died about 17 years of age.

10- 11. Two infants of Newton Crabtree, died in 1870s.

12. Ella Crabtree, child of Newton Crabiree, died about 1875.

13. Lulu Crabtree. child of Newton Crabtree, died about 1888.

I4. Rowena Crabiree, child of A. P. O. Crabtree, died about 1908, aged 2!/, yrs.
15. Oliver Duncan, born October 16, 1836, died June 26, 1889.

16. Clara Duncan, born February 1, 1866, died October |, 1886,

I7. May Duncan, born October 29, 1868, died August {3, 1886.

I8. Hayne Duncan, son of Oliver, born Aug. I, 1878, died Aug. 31, 1894.

19. Knight Duncan, born December 16, 1863, died July i1, 1888.
20. Pelham Duncan, born March 4, 1871, died February 27, 1909.*
21. Clora Etta Elster, born August 18, 1874, died February 26, 1905.*
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. Frank Eister, died February 26, 1905, aged 38 years, 24 days.*

. Geo. D. Fenner, died February 23, 1888, aged 54 years, 10 months, 18 days.*
. Effie Fenner, died about 20 years old.

. Jos. Riley Graham, born 1843, died December 21, 1900.

. Laura Mable Graham, died January 6, 1889, aged 9 years, 4 months.*

. Arthur Graham, son of Riley, born 1881, died November 8, 1898.

. Marion Graham, son of Riley, born 1874, died February 10, 1900.

. Pearl Adell Green, born September 18, 1879, died January 14, 1901.*

. Nita Green, born April 8, 1906, died aged 3 months.

. Clair Green, born May 27, 1908, died aged 2 weeks.

. Henry Warren Halliburton, born April 13, 1828, died February 28, 1903.*

. Mary M. Halliburton, wife of Henry, born May 18, 1846, died Feb. 16, 1897.*
. Velda Hazel Halliburton, born May 5, 1894, died May 27, 1895.*

. Mary Harmon, died about 1897, a girl.

. Mary (McKinley) McCuicheon Kerrick, born Nov. 10, 1832, died Feb. 1904.
. Louis Kerrick, son of Benj. and Mary, born Oct. 1, 1871, died 1895.

. Francis F. Knowles, native of Maine, 1824-1903.*

. Ashiel Loop, died Feb. 20, 1892, aged 70 years, father of Mrs. McGahey.

. Ossie McCutcheon, son of Jim McCutcheon, born 1883, died aged 12 yrs.

. Paul McCutcheon.

. Guy McCutcheon.

. David McCutcheon, sons of Sam McCutcheon, infants, died between 1887

and 1899.
Eva Manier, child of Elam Manier, died of diphtheria about 1884, aged 10 yrs.

. Ada Manier, child of Elam Manier, died of diphtheria about 1884, aged 8 yrs.
. Ida Duncan Mitchell, born May 24, 1866, died June 10, 1892.*

. Eugene Manfred born Nov. 16, 1877, died Dec. 16, 1878.*

. Moses Neal, died February 10, 1906, aged 82 yrs.*

. Nicholas, a Frenchman, who was drowned, about 1894.

. A. P. Osborn, born May 7, 1852, died December 4, 1903.*

. Rebecca (Moore) Osborn, wife of A. P. Osborn, born Oct. 28, 1825, died

Feb. 18, 1887.*

. Oliver Osborn, died August 8, 1908, aged 87 yrs. 8 mos.*

. Margaret Osborn, wife of Oliver, died July |, 1887, aged 74 yrs. 3 mos.*

. Oliver Perry Osborn, born September 30, 1860, died September 28, 1929.*
. Laura M. Osborn, wife of Perry Osborn.

. Horace, infant son of O. P. and Laura M. Osborn, born Sept. 11, 1882, died

Nov. 8, 1882.*

. Murdock M. Phillips, born April 14, 1819, died February 20, 1895.*
. Mrs. Murdoch Phillips.
. Claud Valentine, son of Mr. and Mrs. A. J. Phillips, born Feb. 14, 1895, died

Sept. 17, 1899.*

. L. S., wife of Thos. Richardson, born May 15, 1829, died July 24, 1888.*
. Everal {son of John and Ivy Rutherford) born 1921, died at 2 weeks.*

. Charlie Smith.

. D. W. Starnes, died June 6, 1896, aged 50 years.*

. John M. Thomas, died December 22, 1888, aged 29 years.*

. Grace Thomas, born July 17, 1884, died aged 2 years.*

. Henry Tutt, born in Missouri Dec. 1853 or '54, died Aug. 19, 1916.

. Eva (Williams) Tuit, wife of Henry, born Feb. |, 1859, died Nov. |{, I1911.
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8. Cromwell Axe, born January 1, 1812; died December |, 1875,

9. Priscilla Axe, born May 7, 1915; died November 20, 1869* on same stone.
Parents of Eleanor Cramer.

10. Walter Braden, died at nine months, son of Wm. Braden, brother of M. A.
Richardson. . !

I'1. N.[Nat} V. Burgan, died Mar. 13, 1890; aged 45 yrs. 10 mos. 3 days. Native ’

: of Missouri.*
12. Sarah A. Burgan, born Aug. 4, 1817: died June 9, 1885.*
[3. Mr. Burgan, husband of Sarah.

[4. Eleanor Axe Cramer, born July 5, 1838; died March 25, 1893. -
15. Legrand Deforest Cramer, born October 16, 1858; died December 13, 1862. ‘
16. Walter Ellison Cramer, born August 30, 1862; died October 16, 1862. N

17. Orlando Cramer, born December 18, 1860; died June 12, 1903.

18. Hank Goudy, died about 1887, “an old bachelor”, said Jack Doty.

19. Jeanette {or Nancy] Ainsworth Henderson, born 1854; died December 13,
1875, mother of Marion Henderson, of Lindsay.

20. Hawkins boy, | yr. old, died in 1882 of scarlet fever, said T. Phariss.

21. Hawkins gir?., 21/, yrs. old, died in 1882 of scarlet fever, children of Tom
Hawkins, both buried in one coffin.

22. Bluford Phariss, 1l/; yrs. old, died in 1882 of scarlet fever, on same day as
Hawkins children.

23. Mary Phariss, died January 24, 1901, aged 25 years.

24. John Talley, married in 1858; died July 8, 1879 (killed in thresher accident.)

25. James F. Talley, born May 16, 1859; J;ed April 8, 1880.

26. Aaron Fred Talley, born April 30, 1872; died July 12, 1904.

27. Hazel Talley, born October 7, 1874; died about 1888 or '89. -~

28. Nancy Talley, born January 12, 1875; died February 11, 1876.

29. John Talley, born September 14, 1849: died in late 1930's.

30. Frank Knowles, trapper and guide, died about 1897, said T. Phariss; but the
stone: "Francis F. Knowles, native of Maine, 1824-1903" in the Crabtree
cemetery, may be that of Frank Knowles, this guide to the high Sierra for
for Clarence King in 1872.

Note: Tilman Phariss, who remembers the cemetery from 1876, says there was a

“Potter's Row" of six or so graves running north and south through the middle, for
transient mill or lumber workers.

THE DUNCAN - McDONALD FAMILIES
BURIAL PLOT

This small burial plot is above Springville near the road to Rancheria on the
old Joseph Duncan homestead. The following persons are buried there: {Those hav-
ing stones are donated by the mark *} Information from Mrs. Eula McDonald Smith.

Joseph Duncan, born August 31, 1827, in Kentucky, died Fall of 1905.*

Sarah J. Pugh Duncan, wife of Joseph, born October 26, 1829 in Tennessee, died
about 1903.*

James McDonald, died 1928, aged 84 or 85 years.*
Leonidas (or Lon} Duncan, born January |1, 1854, died January 17, 1929.*
Fredonia Ann Duncan McDonald, wife of James, died January 17, 1940, aged 82.*
Earl McDonald, died in 1914, or 15, at 30 years of age.
Deese Henderson Harding, daughter of Laura Duncan Henderson, died in 1940's,

aged 68 years.
Jack Harding, husband of Deese, died about 1941, aged over 70 years.*
Harding infant.

5




THE HUBBS OR SPRINGVILLE CEMETERY

HUBBS OR SPRINGVILLE CEETERY

The Springville or Hubbs Cemetery was begun by Jas. R. Hubbs at the death
of his daughter, Eva (wife of Chas. Elster) in 1889. It is described by the location of
its Southwest corner thus: "The SW corner is a point 1273 ft. south and 660 ft. west
of the |/s corner of the North line of Section 2, Township 21 S, Range 29 E, M. D. B.
% M. It adjoins the south side of the Tuberculosis Sanitarium of Springville. The
numbering of the lots begins at this SW corner and runs east, then west, then east
and then west again to Lot Ne. 52, in four ranges. Following are the known graves:
IThose having stones are marked *).

Lot 4. Melvin Phariss, one of twin sons of T. B. Phariss, born March 14, 1908, died
April 10, 1908,

5. Nellie M. Williams, born in Clinton, Ill., May 15, 1879, died Mar. 24, 1902.%
Mary A. Williams, 1945-1923 [mother of above.)
P. (Prentice) N. Williams, 1832-1920, Illinois Vol. Co. L; 4 Cav.” (father).
. Bertha A. Pedigo, born Aug. 8. 1869, died June |5, 1898.%
. Lizzie, wife of A. S. Russell, 1875-1907.*
Jay Gangbin's child.
C. E. Brocket's child.
"Mother" R. A. Elster, died September 21, 1911, aged 76 years.*
Lora N. Elster, died May 9, 1908, aged |3 years,*
10. Eva May Elster, died January 19, 1889, aged 22 years.*
Mary Arminda Elster, born February 17, 1875, died May 2, 1929.
Charles Elster, born March 7, 1858, Grass Valley, died aged 84.
I'1. Alvin H. Slocum, 1837-1922.*
Nancy E. Slocum, 1839-1892.*
I2. Sarah A. Akin, born February 22, 1862, died February 2, 1911.*
James Marshal Akin, born May 18, 1852, Buffalo, N. Y., died April 4, 1924.
Lerta Akin Fink, born December 6, 1888, died November 11, 1938,
I5. Mrs. Marths Jane Vivian, born January 9, 1847, died April 15, 1916.%
I6. Zadia S. Hubbs, born April 19, 1882, died August 29, 1905.*
Franklin B. Hubbs, born April |1, 1851, died December 20, 1935.
&
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I7. Mary J. Hubbs, born November 20, 1835, died May 28, 1897.*
James R. Hubbs, born January 19, 1826, died September 17, 1896.*
Milton S. Hubbs, born May 8, 1873, died February 26, 1905.*

19. John MacKiearnan, born 1834, died September 22, 1906.*
Nancy MacKiearnan, born July 16, 1840, died June, 1931.
20. S. M. Doty, wife of A. J. Doty, died December 23, 1904, aged 59 years.*
A. J. Doty, died April 27, 1912, aged 75 years. ' :
21. Samuel J. Wells, son of F. N. Wells, December 12, 1878 - March 9, 1907.*

22. A. M. Conley. _ ~
S. G. Harvey, born 1827, died about 1907.

23. Mrs. Robinson, mother of Dick R., died 1911.

33. James R. Hubbs, Jr., born January 24, 1869, died October 3, 1939.
Clara Hubbs, wife of Jas. R. Hubbs, Jr., died April 18, 1950.

34. Frank Martin, son of Dr. Todd Martin and Flora May Martin, born June 28,
1885, died March 18, 1909.

35. Fred Noller, October 14, 1856 - December 20, 1909.*
Sophie Noller, 1855 - 1930.

36. Joe Lathrop, born July 16, 1883, died October 28, 1913.
Dan Lathrop, born JuKl 16, 1883, died December 9, 1919.

37. Moses Lockhart Cramer, born November 4, 1864, died November, 1909.
Floyd Cramer, son of Lock Cramer.

38. M. K. Coolidge's baby.

42. Adoniram Srhith, born April 2, 1840, Charleston, Maine, died Jan. 28, 1916.
Also in burial urns:
Mrs, Hannah Smith, wife of Adoniram, born 1842 in Canaan, Me., died
April 17, 1907.
Mrs. Effie Smith Hunt, born April 29, 1870, died July 5, 1934.
Roy Smith, born March 26, 1885, died July 30, 1943.
Mrs. Fannie Smith Barnes.
Ollie Barnes, husband of Fanny.

45. W. T. Baldwin, died March 27, 1916.*

(Based on blue-print and lists in possession of Mr, Clint Hubbs, with further
search by Ina H. Stiner by interviews and correspondence. Note: In 1952 the Porter-
ville District Cemetery Board took over this cemetery and cleaned it and put a white
picket fence in front.)

THE GALLEY MOUNTAIN OR
SHELBY PEPPER CEMETERY

This small burial plot is on the ranch first owned by Shelby Pepper [now Konda
property), near the edge of the valley of Coho Creek. Information is from Mrs. Rose
Caldwell, granddaughter of Selby Pepper, and from Will Parker and Etta Parker Hall.

The following are known to be buried there: (The asterisk * denotes gravestone.)

Peter Pinnell, born October 10, 1831, died January 30, 1878.* Father of Tom

Pinnell, of Bakersfield.
Charlie Armstrong, died about 1888.
Sam Thomas, homesteader on Deer Creek.
Shelby Pepper, died July 17, 1894, aged 77 years.*
Mr. Peyton, relative of P. Pinnell.
Mr. Warren, aged relative of P. Pinnell, died at about the same time he did.
Pete Rodigez, died about 1903.
George Hitchcock, born 1854, died 1934, brother of Mrs. Rose Caldwell.
Mr. Lowery, (suggested by Mrs. Caldwell but not known to the Parkers.)
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WHITE RIVER GEMETERY

WHITE RIVER CEMETERY
This is the public cemetery of the old mining town of Tailholt or White River.
The earliest known graves seem fo be of those who died in the diphtheria epidemic
of 1877-8. It is on the west slope of Bald Mountain, in mining days on open land.
When patenting of mining claims was allowed it was included in the patent of the
Bald Mountain Mining Company. The ownership of this particular piece of land went
from the executive of the company to a member of the family of Lee Danner who
had the White River Store; and the Danners sold it to Mr. and Mrs. Les Guthrie. So
the cemetery is now within the field of a cattle ranch, but is enclosed by a fence and
gate and has a road leading to it. The following are the known graves: (Those
marked with an * have stones: dates marked with ** were from inquests.) (Source of
‘nformation, or relative given.)
John Arnold, died about 1901, old and unmarried. (Informant, Will Parker.)
John Tyron Beckwith, May 29, 1889.* Inquest No. 246.
Alexander Dallas Bigelow, died in 1878, grandfather of Pearl Hillard [of San
Leandro.)
Gsorge Bigelow, died aged |9 years, son of A. D. Bigelow.
Dewitt Clinton Bigas, died about 1898 (a discoverer of the mines.)
Mary Biggs, wile of D. C. Biggs, died about 1895 (parents of Mrs, Hannah Smith
of Martinez.)
Five Biggs children who died of diphtheria, 1877-8. (From Mrs. M. Mitchell and
Mrs. Etta Hall)
David Bigags, born about 1878, died while young.
Mrs. Aman?a Cummings. died about 1882, 60 years old. [aunf of Mrs. Etta Par-
ker Hall.
Burr Cummings, young son of Amanda, died before 1882,
John Dwyer, died in 1890, an old man, unmarried. (From Will Parker.)
Minty Bell Freeburn, born about 1884, died in 1901, daughter of Wm. Freeburn,
iniece of Ida Rounsaville.]
Golden baby girl, and
Golden girl child, both killed in a runaway, about 1891 (From Mrs. Frank Haskell.)
Jennie Guthrie, born 1890, died 1892 [sister of Les Guthrie).”
C. Les Guthrie, born 1885, died 1946.*
8



Walter Hall, died Dec. 1891, baby son of Alma and Etta Hall.

Jas. Alexander Hawley, born 1873, died July 21, 1892.* Inquest No. 287.

Henry J. Keller, born June 10, 1837, died October 21, 1884. Father of Mrs.
Pearl Burford and Ross Keller.

James Kilbreth, born 1820, died January 8, 1892.*

James H. Kilbreth, born 1864, died July 13, 1886 (on same stone).

George Lambert, killed by falling tree, April 17, 1892. (From Visalia Delta.) .

Robert McCabe, born 1842, died May 21, 1894.*

Peter hl/lcCann, unmarried man, died July 1921, uncle of Mrs. Nora Biggs, Castro
Valley,

John Mcéann. unmarried man, died June, 1923, uncle of Mrs. Nora Biggs, Castro
Valley.

Wm. Jas. McGorray, died June 2, 1908.** Inquest No. 615.

Sarah J., daughter of Wm. J. and Ida M. McGorray, died November 23, 1892.*

Henry McNulty, died about July 31, 1902.** Inquest No. 454,

Hazer Esther Peters, infant child of Mrs. Oliver Peters, died March, 1892,

Jos. Swain Sprague, brother of Mrs. Oliver Peters, died November, 1892. {Miss
Myrtle Peters, Colton.)

R. J. Slinkard, born January 7, 1845, died June 30, 1901.*

Ellen Slinkard, born January 7, 1861, died September 7, 1926, wife of R. J.

Clark Siinkard, born November 9, 1885, son of R. J. and Ellen Slinkard. (Rela-
tives of Mrs. Will Parker.)

Gertrude Uhl, born 1883, died 1899. Twin sister of Bertha UhL.

Samuel Whaley, murdered May, 1889.** Inquest No. 441.

Milton White, died in 1875. Relative of Lucy White Redd.

Minnie White, died in 1880. Relative of Lucy White Redd.

(There has not been a careful check of the following):

Jennie White, daughter of Rad White, died about 1892, suggested by Mrs. Frank
Haskell.

Henry Poppel. :

Mr. Sturtevant (not a relative of Mrs. O. Peters). Suggested by Lucy Redd.

Elmer Beebe, brother-in-law of Jas. McGorray, (suggested by Will Parker.)

Note: Miss Annie Mitchell and her mother, Mrs. Mike Mitchell, of Visalia, col-

lected much of this information through several years. Also they provided the fol-
lowing list of the burials in Boot Hill Cemetery.

BOOT HILL CEMETERY AT TAILHOLT

The name of this cemetery means that these men met the violent death of
murder, some in drunken brawls, two in quarrels between partners. Miss Mitchell wrote
the story of the cemetery for the Porterville Recorder's issue of November 5, 1949.

I. Daniel Poer, from Texas, brother of Wm. Poer, died December 20, 1862.

2. Daniel Lane, from Kentucky, died in April, 1863. (inquest held April 8.)

3. Dan Daugherty.

4. Jack Gordon, a trapper of the Seuthwest; but also engaged in- "rustling,”
killed by a partner, December 15, 1864.

5. Thos. Jones, killed by a partner, February 27, 1880.

6. John Parker, died in 1896; he hated women so he asked to be buried in this
“man’s” cemetery; but some of the women sang a hymn at the service con-
ducted by Parson Dooley.

7. Chescott, an Indian girl, found as a fost child by Jack Gordon, who had her
taken care of and arranged with Levi Mitchell that she have his estate after
his death. She lived with the Mitchells but died when about 18 years old of
tuberculosis. “They buried her near Jack Gordon but as far away as possible
from the murdered men."

"So sleep the dead of Tailholt. Those on the north side of the river lie in their
neatly fenced-in plot. Those on the south side of the river sleep in obliterated lone-
liness." (Quo’recrfrom Annie Mitchell.)

9
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THE FLAGG-WEBB
FAMILIES PLOT

A BRI R L4
FLAGG-WEBB CEMETERY

This family burying ground is in pasture land of young oak trees on the home-
stead of Sam Webb, adjoining the Flagg place Lla’rer Shackleford's, then Lee's) it is
near the northern end ml the valley of the North Tule and very near the river and
Cramer Creek. There are |4 or more graves; one with double marker in a cobble-
stone enclosure, and four other stones of white marble lying flat, and one discernible
wooden marker. Mrs, M. A. Richardson said that the burial place was started by
her sister-in-law, Georgianne Richardson Flagg, the first wife of Jas. P. Flagg. His
iecond wife was Mrs. Willamette Dean, whose first husband is also buried
there. Sam Webb's wife was Melissa Braden, a sister of Mrs. M. A. Richardson, who
furnished dates where there were no markers. (Graves with stones are marked with
an *: reading those from the north end: then those not located.)

I. McDougal, John A. W., 1855-1897.*

2. McDougal, Nancy L., 1857-1933. Both on one marker with seal of Neighbors
of Woodcraft between; cobblestone enclosure.

3. Roswell Richardson, died July 4, 1877, age 8! years, native of N. H.* marble
slab [born June 24, 1797

4. Louisa, wife of G. W, Hayden, died June 4, 1881, aged 59 vears, 7 months.”
marble slab "Our darling has gone before to greet us."

5. Clera L. daughter of J. P. and G. A. Flagg, died August 20, 1882, age 5
years, 7 months.* Marble slab. "Poor child, her days on earth were few. She
passed away like morning dew."

b. George Ann, wife of J. P. Flagg, died July 5, 1888, aged 37 years.* Marble
slab, "May your repose be sublime, For all coming time, Felicity never marred.
As a child, as a wife, Your lot in this life Has ever been irksome and hard.”

7. Jas. P. Flagqg, died June 20, 1903, aged 62 years. (wooden marker). (Born
June 15, 184]).

8. Sam Webb, died after 1907 (an old man, who made his own casket, sarco-
phagus-shaped: grave located near the McDougals, said L. Lee McKiearnan.)

9. Melissa Braden Webb (wife of Sam) died in 1878, with her new-born twins.
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10.- 1l. Babies buried in the coffin with her,
[Z.-13. Twin babies of Melissa and Sam Webb, who were born earlier and did

not live.

14, Roswell P. Flagg, born and died in 1872, child of Georgianne and James
[11th grave)

15, Laura Rosella Flagg [Mrs. Rose Serby] born May 11, [B75; died May, 1903.
{12ih grave)

16. William Dean (husband of Willamette Flagg) died about 1888.
[13th grave)
17. Ephraim Murphy [Henry Murphy's father.)
(I4th grave).
Two other of Georgianne's children are probably buried there:
18. Clara Luella Flagg, born January 22, 1877, died August 20, |1882.
19. Hiram DeWitt Flagg, born September |4, 1887, died May 16, 1894.

THE WILCOX FAMILY BURIAL PLOT

WILCOX CEMETERY

This is probably the oldest burial place still existing in the Porterville area.
When Sardis Wilcox died in 1851 his wife buried him on their home farm, which is
just below and south of the junction of Scuth Tule with the main Tule River.
The fiood of early 1862 washed over the grave: so she had it moved several
rods to higher land, and not far north of the home buildings. Their two sons, Douglas
and Carlos, and Sardis' brother, Alfred, were buried there. Then Mrs. Sardis Wilcox,
wha had married Dr. 5. G. George, was probably the last to be buried there. In the
meantime others not of the family found & resting place there: small children of trans-
ients, Mexicans who worked on ihe ranch, and indians, several families of whom would
not leave the location to live at the Reservation; and two neighbors, according to
Sardis Templeton, grandson of Sardis Wilcox and one of present owners of the prop-
erty, made the number about 20 graves. A tall, white stone shaft and several small
markers locate the place. On the shaft are:
I. Sardis D. Wilcox, died June 7, 1861, aged 42 years and 7 months.*
Il



. Alfred P. Wilcox, died February 23, 1871, aged 42 years, || months.*

. Carlie A., son of S. D. and S. G. Wilcox, died March 31, 1873, aged 13
years, 4 months and 3 days.*
Not on the shaft:

4. Douglas Wilcox, born 1857, died in 1883.

5. Sarah Bond Wilcox (Mrs. S. G. George) born 1822, died 1911 (wife of Sardis
Wilcox) was the last person for whom the Porterville undertaker hung black
crepe, and for whose funeral black-bordered notices were tacked up around.

6. Joe Hakes, father of the second wife of Benjamin Templeton.

7. Mr. Miles, an old man who died shortly after Sardis Wilcox's death.

Also buried there were:

8. Eustace Barlow, who died. about 1894, aged 23 years.

9. Dexter Bond, son of Levi and Sylvia Bond, who drowned July 16, 1869, a year
old; and

10. Levi Bond, who died April 22, 1877, aged 52 years, & months.

cSLand for Old Porterville Cemetery was not acquired until April 1878. After
the death of Levi Bond's wife in 1891, their son-in-law, Whit Smith, with undertaker
Jas. McCabe and an Indian, exhumed the coffins of Levi Bond and the son and
brought them to the Porterville cemetery. They opened that of Levi Bond to be sure
it was the right one; and the Indian exclaimed: "That's Big Nose' — using the ric-
ture name the Indians had for Levi Bond. Then the impact of the air caused all to
crumble away.)

ISOLATED GRAVES IN THE VALLEY

OF THE NORTH TULE

CROOK AND ILANSTINE AND WALKER GRAVES
ON THE WM. GOODING PLACE

This burial plot is in the Dennison School district and near the southeast point
of Battle Mt. It is an eighth of a mile north and west of the old Wm. Goodin
house near the Crooks gate; that is a half mile above and west of the road. Nothing
marks it; the field has been cultivated over the graves. The information is from Mrs.
Edna Meddick.

I. Freddie llanstine, who died while still young.

2. Anna llanstine, who was just grown up: their mother was a cousin of Mrs.
Meddick.

3. Wiley Crook, died about 1885, an old man.

4. Dave Crook, died about 1885, an old man; unmarried brothers of Alex Crook.

5. Mr. Walker, who died before 1888, said Geo. Dillon.

HAYES OR HAYNES GRAVES ON THE DR. MORRILL PLACE

This place is also called the old Slocum place, and Jeas Marson lived there.
Three or four members of a Hayes or Haynes family werc buried there and Paul
Showalter erected a picket fence around the plot, said Mr. M. Lee.

NORTHRUP GROVES ON THE BENJAMIN HARPER PLACE
Three Northrup children died about 1903 or 1906 of diphtheria; and the par-
ents made coffins; and the neighbors {Frank Meddick and others) came near the
house and took them to the hillside and buried them. These were girls, as the one
son in the large family grew up, it is said.

JOE STREET
Joe Street, who owned the Griswold place, about two miles above the Tule
River crossing at Milo, was buried on the hillside where his dog had been buried. He

was with the Frank Meddicks when he died; and they carried out his request, as the
dog had been his best friend.

N
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CEMETERIES TELL OF LOCAL HISTORY

The old mining town of Tailholt on White River was about as old as Visalia,
which was the earliest town in the San Joaquin Valley. There must have been earlier
graves at White River than those that lie on the bare westein flank of Bald Mountain;
but we do not know where they lie — perhaps across the canyon on Boot Hill among
those who met death by violent means and thus gave the hilr its name. Apparently
the first graves in the present cemetery were those of victims of the dread epidemic
of diphtheria in 1877. Five children of DeWitt Clinton Biggs and his wife were
buried within a few days. A white picket fence was put around their graves. Other
white picket fences showed to the townspeople other burials in the years that followed.
However, the littie girls of Mr. and Mrs. Levi Mitchell, who died of the diphtheria
epidemic, were brought to the Visalia Cemetery. And on through the '80s and ‘90s
while the mines were flourishing many of the dead were taken by slow-moving car-
riages to Visalia or Vandalia or the nearer Woody and Glenville. Perhaps that ac-
counts for the fact that at White River there are relatively few graves For the size
of the population. Bald Mountain was one of two or three mountains that contained
the valuable mineral lode; so when ultimately patents could be secured for mineral
land as such, the slopes of Bald Mountain became the property of the Bald Mountain
Mining Company; and then when the mines ceased operation, this piece of hill-slope
came into the possession of the Danners, and now is included in the Guthrie Cattle
Ranch. The cemetery is enclosed by a good barbed-wire fence with a road and gate
leading into it. But the white picket fences have disintegrated; and only a few white
stones show the passer-by that a cemetery lies on the hillside, with one cak tree in the
waving wild oat grass. The old-time families have left White River; and there is no
record but memory to tell who lie in the unmarked graves. At his earlier request
Les Guthrie was buried there in 1946.

One event stands out in the memory of old-timers. A family by the name of
Golden was traveling into Tailholt in a large, heavy wagon, without adequate brakes.
Mrs. Golden was driving; and her husband, whose eye had been injured, was carrying
the baby. Down the steep hill the wagon pressed upon the horses, and they ran away,
throwing out part of the family; the baby and a little girl were killed. The miners
raised money and sent for James McCabe, the Porterville undertaker, who brought the
first coffin that was not made by the men in Tailholt. A miner read a burial service;
and some women sang a hymn — and Mr. McCabe gave the money to the Golden
family. Heretofore coffins had been made of what lumber was at hand and were cov-
ered with black cloth and lined with white; and the women of the neighborhood made
the shrouds. In small rural communities there was no caretaker for the cemetery:
and graves were dug without fee. Before Memorial Day the people gathered for a
?eneral cleaning up of the cemetery; and on that day all graves were decorated with

lowers.

FRAZIER YALLEY CEMETERY

In 194! the Frazier Valley Cemetery was included to receive the care of the
Lindsay-Strathmore Public Cemetery Board, by what amounted to court-order. The
older residents of Frazier Valley, who are tax-payers of the district, wanted to make
sure that their cemetery would receive care after they were gone. 1t is a much older
cemetery than the Lindsay-Strathmore. James A. Kincaid, who had settled there in
1871, gave, for the purpose, two acres on a granite ridge which seemed to him an
ideal place for a cemetery. But the cemetery was started by a diphtheria epidemic
in the early summer of 1882, during which J\e Hotchkiss, W. W. Brown, and Clint
Brown families lost several children. However, Mrs. Kincaid was desirous that a young
son, who had been buried in 1876 near Milo, be brought nearer home. In the burials
that followed there were those also from the Gill and Hodges families and others.
The public status of the cemetery came to be recognized; and in later years the
community as a whole erected a galvanized iron fence and gate. Mrs. Bessie Kincaid
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Gill had general charge and kept the records. In transactions it was practically a
family cemetery. When it came into the Lindsay-Strathmore Public Cemetery District
care, that board and caretaker inserted at each unmarked grave a little cement
plaque with the initials of the person buried there. As the ground is disintegrated
granite, the chief desire of the Frazier Valley people is that it be kept free from ob-
noxious weeds and squirrels and that the grave-stones be kept upright.

The Lindsay-Strathmore, or Olive, Cemetery had been established in 1910 by
a corporation under W. W. French. In 1926 the people of these two communities
bought the Olive cemetery by taking advantage of the California cemetery-tax law
of 1921. By this law, subdivisions in the counties, known as cemetery districts, could
be established and a tax would be levied and added to the county tax of residents of
such districts. This tax is for the upkeep of any cemetery that may be included by
the vote of the residents of that section or the petition of those interested; the tax
is sufficient also for a pumping or other irrigation system and for salaries of the em-
ployees. The administration of a cemetery district is in the hands of a board of three
members who serve without pay and are appointed for terms of four years by the
County Board of Supervisors — to whom they make an annual report. The case of
the Lindsay-Strathmore cemetery is unusual, says Mr. A. P. Graybill, a director, be-
cause income has been derived from oranges and cotton raisec}’ on portions of the
cemetery tract.

PORTERVILLE PUBLIC CEMETERY DISTRICT

The Porterville Public Cemetery District covers the southeastern part of Tulare
county. The members of the district board are Henry Owen of Ducor and Ervin
Gibson and ‘Neville Carpenter of Porterville. The secretary-manager is Thos. F. Fer-
guson. The cemeteries that are under the care of this board are the Porterville Ceme-
tery, which includes the Old Porterville, Home of Peace, and Hillcrest Memorial ceme-
teries; the Vandalia Cemetery; and the Catholic Cemetery on an old road at the
south. Cemeteries within the district but not under the care of the board are: White
River, Hubbs at Springville, and Crabtree near Globe, and five or so family burial
plots. The Woodville Cemetery, which is an old cemetery, is in a separate district —
its own.

VANDALIA CEMETERY

The Vandalia Cemetery is the oldest of the group — the land having been
given by James M. Martin, whe with five sons settled in fEaf section in 1860 and '61.
The first burials had been made in a spot on the east side of Plano Road on the north
slope of the rise where the Vandalia School has stood for the first half of this century.
Removals were made from there to the present cemetery; and the oldest grave is said
to be that of an infant child of Wm. Martin who died May 5, 1864. James Martin
brought with them from Texas his very aged mother, and brought boards for her cof-
fin lest she die on the way. However, the tombstone records the date of her {Ann
Marﬁn's:? death as November 25, 1869, at the age of 93. Thus she was born in one
of the Thirteen Colonies before the Revolutionary War and the beginning of the
United States. What geographical changes in North America in her [ifetime!
Pioneers from White River, Fountain Springs, Ducor and Terra Bella were buried
in this cemetery, which was often called Plano but was named as Vandalia in the deeds
and legal papers. Many of the gravestones are the old-time thin slabs of white marble
with room for those lines that Thomas Gray in his Elegy says "implore the passing
tribute of a sigh” and "teach the rustic moralist to die."" In each cemetery there are
buried tragedy and some griefs that are more than ordinary; illustrations can be taken
from this. Here lie buried Mrs. James Bonsall and her two children who were killed
by Indians in the early ‘70s. In three graves are the five children of "A. B. and S. R.
DuBrutz” who died of diphtheria in January, 1880. Vandalia Cemetery has the ap-
pearance of never having been neglected in upkeep in its 80 odd years. Among the
|



sextons of: Vandalia Cemetery have been Wm. Harry Williamson and Michael Hall,
who came to Plano in 1887. Besides acting as caretakers they kept the records. Lots
were sold through the office of James McCabe, undertaker. When the Porterville
Public Cemetery District was formed in 1924 Otto Bastian became sexton and resur-
veyed the cemetery, but found that the early survey was good.

PORTERVILLE CEMETERY

The first burial plot for the town of Porterville, said W. W. Brown, was on Oak
Street. Two acres of land for the present cemetery was bought from Justice George
A. Williamson, one of the earliest settlers, by Joseph Lewis, J. E. Conner, Sr., and
John Tyler, trustees of the Porterville Cemetery Association, for a consideration of
$200.00, deed dated April 29, 1878. This was the description of the property. in
the recorded deed: “"Two acres of land equal on all sides or as nearly square as can
be in the southwest corner of the southeast quarter of the southwest quarter of sec-
tion 30." (does not give the township, efc.)

There were no public funds for the cemetery in the early days; but the people
were determined that their cemetery be of good appearance. When the trees that
are now the largest were planted, water had to be carried in buckets to keep them
growing. Plays and shows of various kinds were given to raise money for improving
the cemetery. "Everybody enthusiastically helped,” said Mrs. Tennie Chapman Tre-
fry, who was usually the initiator of these affairs. One of them which she directed in
1885 was "The District Skule' in which many of Porterville's leading citizens took
part. An annual dance helped the funds. Families kept their own lots clean. A lot
large enough for six graves cost at this time $20.00. One sexton was Tom Smith who
lived in the upper part of the pump-house and personally collected what he could for
taking care of lots. James McCabe and Harvey Frame at times were in charge.
Through this middle period it was usually the Woodmen of the World Lodge that
gave the Memorial Day exercises at the cemetery; they had an excellent drill team
and as an insurance order have erected several of the fombstones. (These tfombstones
are shafts or columns after the fashion at the beginning of this century.)

The Porterville Public Cemetery District was organized in 1924 with the boun-
daries of the High School District; later it was extended to the Inyo and Kern coun-
ties lines and to include Milo section. On the first board were John Dennis of Ducor
and Carl Loyd, undertaker, and W. W. Brown of Porterville; the latter was the sec-
retary. The Old Porterville and Vandalia cemeteries were included; and the sexton
of the former was John Rutherford, of the latter, Otto Bastian; each kept a field book
and records. In 1941 the Home of Peace cemetery was taken over by the Board:
in 1942, the Hillcrest Memorial; and in 1945, the Catholic ‘cemetery.

HOME OF PEACE

This cemetery was established in 1908 by a stock company consisting of Har-
vey Frame, James McCabe, John James, Grace Redfield, and George Murry. They
bought the land from Sol Rodgers. The following served in succession as their sec-
retary: George Williamson, James Venn, and Mark DeWitt. Before it came under
the district board, its corporation was dissolved by petition. They collected their
outstanding credits but did not ask for remuneration. A feature of this cemetery is
the number of fine massive ornate monuments it contains.

*HILLCREST MEMORIAL CEMETERY

The Hillcrest Memorial Cemetery was developed by Max Jamison and Lester
Lamkin; the first burials were in 1930. It was taken over by the Porterville Public
Cemetery in 1942, which paid $2,000 to the owners to finish their indebtedness on
the mausoleum of crypts for burial urns — a feature of this cemetery. At the be-
ginning the grounds were carefully landscaped: and some parts were sequestered by

15

-



hedges. To give a park-like effect, the burial grounds are kept as green lawns with
smooth, unbroken surface, by the use of flat, sunken gravestones. These modern
stones are adapted to our mechanical age. Rubber-tired, motor-powered lawn-
mowers run quickly over all. On the stones an open Bible or a lily or a dove etched
by the stone-cutter can suggest immortality and hope.  One director of a cemetery
board observed that such stones seem appropriate because rich and poor alike are on
a level in death.

ST. ANNE'S CEMETERY

Formerly known as the Porterville Catholic Cemetery, it is located three-
fourths of a mile west of Highway 65 on the road next south of Poplar Avenue.
(Back in local history this land was part of the homestead of Victor Adams or of the
inheritance of his wife, Amanda gibbons Adams, in the community called Plano.)
The cemetery was established when twenty acres of land (in the SE/, of the SWi/,
of Section 2, Township 22 S, Range 27 E} was sold to the Roman Catholic Bishop of
the Diocese of Monterey and Los Angeles by John Purcell, the deed dated Septem-
ber 20, 1906. Father John Coen, who was the parish priest from 1896 to 1912, had
called the meeting to start the work of getting a cemetery. Probably Herman Mul-
ler, Anton Wais, and Felix McCabe, who served as a committee in collecting con-
tributions in 1911, were among those who secured the funds for the purchase of the
land, in 1906. (In 1908 Father Coen bought 15 acres of the tract for a home for his
sister.} In 1907 Jacob Pluth, Martin Simonich, and J. R. Simonich worked at levelling
the ground which was still in the original condition of little knolls and hollows. There
were already, at that time, a windmill and, as Mr. Pluth remembers, a few graves.

The first grave on the records is that of John McCabe who died in 1909 at -
the age of 76. -There are two earlier gravestones — those of the wife of John Pur-
cell and the wife of Thos. H. Purcell, who died in 1887 and 1892 respectively. But
these may have been moved there. The funds raised in 1911 were used to complete
the grading, drill a well and erect a good fence. At that time Herman Muller and
Anton Wais were elected to look after the care of the cemetery. Relatives kept the
graves of their own families in good appearance. A plat from a survey was made
in 1913. :

In 1945 the Porterville Catholics applied to the Porterville Public Cemetery Dis-
trict Board requesting that this cemetery be taken into its jurisdiction and care. I
order o use public tax money for the cemetery, it was necessary for the Church to
relinquish its right to exclusive use of the cemetery, for, under the California law set-
ting up public cemetery districts and levying a cemetery tax, such funds can be used
only in places open to the public, that is, open to any burials. Thus a portion of the
cemetery is now set aside \E:r non-Catholic burials. The name, St. Anne's Cemetery,
was chosen at that time.

Recently a building for an office and a store-room has been erected in the
angle between the Home of Peace and the Old Porterville cemeteries. And this year
a mechanical grave-digger was bought; it is of the hydraulic system of the Fordson
tractor.

OTHER CEMETERIES OR BURIAL PLACES

The cemeteries or burying grounds, with the exception of White River, that
are within the district but not under the care of the cemetery district board originat-
ed as family burial places located on family property. As to when a family burying
ground became a cemetery was pointed out by Mrs. M. A, Richardson. In a conver-
sation, in answer to the question: Are there two cemeteries near Milo? She said "No,
one is a family burying ground.” She explained that in the other, Mrs. Eleanor
Cramer gave lots to neighbors in the graveyard on her ranch, and that the man who
bought the ranch from her offered and gave deeds to these lots for a certain price:
thus it became a cemetery. With that distinction, the Crabtree burying ground at
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Globe is also a cemetery, for Newton Crabtree sold lots and gave deeds. On a sim-
ilar basis the Hubbs burying ground at Springville would be called o cemetery. James
R. Hubbs and his son, Clinton Hubbs, did not sell lots and give deeds: but they
did give recognition to its being a community graveyard, by platting it and keeping
records and by admitting for burial members of families unable to pay and infant
childrer of iransient residents — as well as members of families who voluntarily gave
some money in gratitude for the privilege of the burial. Men of the neighborhood
came to dig the graves. Also W. Newton Crabtres, on September 5, 1903, and
Clinton Hubbs, on February 27, 1907, each on depositing at the Office of the Coun-
ty Recorder a surveyed plat of the respective cemeteries on their family land, af-
firmed under oath that "all streets and alleys are hereby dedicated to public use”
~— which is the terminology, for giving to the public, legal right to a cemetery. These
three burying-grounds have thus the status of public cemzteries for their sections of
the district; and being in varying stages of neglect show need for public care.

Most of these family burying grounds or cemeteries have naturaly suffered
because the ranches are no longer owned by the families to whom the burying ground
belongs. However, to secure public care through the Public Cemetery District Board
and public tax, there are certain requirements on the part of the cemeteries: there
must be first, a request or petition from those interested or from the taxpayers; sec-
ond, a deed to the land, without restrictions on the part of those deeding it {i.e. trust
must be placed in the reasonableness of the Board and its sympathy with the desires
o}: interested parties): third, accessibility of the cemetery to the public, e.g. by right-
of-way.

The oidest of these three cemeteries is the one near Milo, on the homestead
where the Jacob Cramers settled in 1863. Mrs. M. A. Richardson said that when
she, as Agnes Braden, came to Milo in {876 and married Andrew Ainsworth there
were already graves on Mrs. Cramer’s place. Mrs. Cramer's mother, Priscilla Axe,
who died in 1869, and her father, Cromwell Axe, who died in 1875, also early Tule
River pioneers, were buried there. Andrew Ainsworth was buried there in 1881; and
there are other Ainsworth graves, and that of John Talley {the father) who was hurt
on an early threshing machinz, and of his sons, of some Bradens and others. When
Mrs. Eleanor Cramer died in 1893, her last resting place was on this ranch that she
had managed through early days, and which had given the name to the first post-
office of the section.

The Crabtree Cemetery in the section called Globe is on a picturesque knoll
with boulders and oak irees. Newton Crabtree, a pioneer of the early 60's, set it
aside, for the purpose, at the death of his mother, Rebecca, in the middle '70s. His
father, John Benjamin Crabtree, aged 83, soon followed, also some children of Elam
Manier, who died from diphtheria. Ashbel Post Osborn, a '49-er and his first wife
are buried there. One of his daughters was the wife of Newton Crabiree, one of
Henry Halliburton, one of Eiam Manier, and two married the McCutcheon brothers,
James and Sam. There are graves from-all these families which have many living
members in the Porterville area. Another Osborn [Oliver), not related, but also a
pioneer in the Globe section, is buried there with members of his family. There are
the graves of Riley Graham, another neighbor, and his family. In-laws who are buried
there are Murdoch Phillips and his wife, and the mother of the McCutcheon broth-
ers — Mary McKinley, (relative of the President], whose second husband was Benj.
Kerrick. Their father died while the family in the McCutcheon Wagon Train was
crossing the plains in 1865. The story of "The Covered Wagon" was written from
the experiences of this wagon-train during Indian attack and other hazards. Newton
Crabiree got Louis Weber, the teacher, to survey the cemetery and prepare a map
of it which is on record at Visalia. There are more than 60 graves.

James R. Hubbs located the cemetery at Springville in 1889 at the death of
his daughter, Eva Elster, who said she wanted to sleep under certain oak trees. |t
was carefully platted in 52 lots in four ranges: and its southwest corner was indicated
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by distance from the section line. Mr. Clint Hubbs, who took charge after his fa-
ther's death in 1896, kept records that showed the location of each grave with the
name of the person or name of kin. James R. Hubbs was a pioneer of 1854 at Vi-
salia and came to Springville in the 1870s. The family was large and included children
of his second wife by a previous marriage. The list of 49 burials in the cemetery has,
besides the Hubbs name, those of the following relatives and connections: Akins,
Doty, Elster, McKiearnan, and Slocum, and others not related: Lathrop, Noller, Smith,
Williams, and others.

Of the family burying grounds the oldest is that on the Sardis Wilcox ranch
(now owned by his grandchildren, the Templetons] at the South Tule fork. Judge
Sardis Wilcox, a settler of 1856, was buried there in 1861, having died of a cold
caught while riding the judge’s circuit. The flood waters of 1862 flowed over the
site that Mrs. Wilcox chose; so her husband's body was removed to higher ground.
Judge Wilcox's brother, Alfred, was buried there in 1870 and his two sons during
that decade, and his wife, whose second husband was Dr. S. G. George, in 91},
Several neighbors and transients also found a resting place there.

The family burying ground above Milo, already referred to, is that on the
homestead, settled in 1873 by James P. Flagg. His first wife was Georgiana Rich-
ardson [sister-in-law of Mrs. M. A. Richardson, whose sister was Mrs. Sam Webb).

~ Georgiana's father, Roswell Richardson, who was born in 1797, was buried there in
1877, and she herself, in 1888. In the '70s there were other burials from these three
families and later from the McDougal and Dean families.

On the edge of Coho Valley there is a family burying ground on the old
Shelby Pepper ranch, that seems to have been started to accommodate the neigh-
bors. The first burial was probably that of Peter Pinnell, who died in 1878. His
grave is within a fence macre of iron pipe, which is kept painted white by the de-
scendants of his son, Tom, of Bakersfeld. Shelby Pepper was a pioneer of the White
River section: he is said to have had a grist mill somewhere above there which was
washed away by the floods of 1862. According to the stone in this burial plot he
died on July 17, 1894 at the age of 77. Several men without relatives were also
laid to rest there. The grandchildren of Mr. Pepper call it the Galley Mt. Cemetery:
it is near the old road to California Hot Springs.

A short distance above Springville, on the road towards Rancheria, there is a
family burying ground on the old Joseph Duncan ranch; it was set aside as a burial
plot at the death of Mrs. Duncan at the beginning of this century. Joseph Duncan,
a pioneer of 1871, died in 1905. Seven other members of the family have been
buried there including James McDonald and his wife, Fredonia, who was a Duncan.
This is purely a private family burial plot.

Thus a trip around the cemeteries recalls local history. Thanks are due to
Committee on California History of Tule Vista Parlor of Native Daughters of the
Golden West who took part in such a trip, and to Tom Ferguson of Porterville, A. P.
Graybill of Lindsay, and Mrs. Louis Gill of Frazier Valley, and many others who gave
information.






